
            

 

Children and Young People's Scrutiny Panel 

 
MONDAY, 29TH SEPTEMBER, 2014 at 18:30 HRS - CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH ROAD, WOOD 
GREEN, N22 8LE. 
 
MEMBERS: 
 

Councillors Berryman, Blake, Hare, Hearn (Chair), Ibrahim and Morris 
 

Co-Optees: Ms Y. Denny (Church of England representative), Mr C. Ekeowa (Catholic 
Diocese representative), Mr L. Collier (Parent Governor), and Mr. K. Taye 
(Parent Governor). 

AGENDA 
 
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS    
 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE    
 
3. URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 The Chair will consider the admission of any late items of urgent business (late items 

will be considered under the agenda item where they appear. New items will be dealt 
with at item 14 below). 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 A Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a prejudicial interest in a matter 

who attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered: 
 
(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest 
becomes apparent, and 
 
(ii) may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must withdraw 
from the meeting room. 
 
A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not 
registered in the Members’ Register of Interests or the subject of a pending 
notification must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of the 
disclosure. Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interest 
are defined at Paragraphs 5-7 and Appendix A of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 



 

2 

5. DEPUTATIONS/PETITIONS/PRESENTATIONS/QUESTIONS    
 
 To consider any requests received in accordance with Part 4, Section B, 

paragraph 29 of the Council’s constitution. 
 

6. MINUTES  (PAGES 1 - 6)  
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting of 27 February 2014 (attached). 

 
7. TERMS OF REFERENCE  (PAGES 7 - 14)  
 
 To note the terms of reference and areas covered by the Panel. 

 
8. WORK PLAN  (PAGES 15 - 20)  
 
 To consider potential issues for the workplan for the Panel, including items which may 

benefit from more in-depth scrutiny work.    
 

9. OFSTED REPORT ON SERVICES FOR CHILDREN IN NEED OF HELP AND 
PROTECTION, CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER AND CARE LEAVERS AND REVIEW 
OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD  
(PAGES 21 - 54)  

 
 To report on the recent OFSTED Reports on Services for Children in Need of Help 

and Protection, Children Looked After and Care Leavers and Review of the 
Effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children Board. 
 

10. COUNCIL AND MULTI AGENCY BODIES RELEVANT TO CILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE  (PAGES 55 - 56)  

 
 To report on Council and multi agency bodies that have a key role in respect of issues 

relating to children and young people. 
 

11. NEW ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 
 
Bernie Ryan 
Assistant Director – Corporate Governance and 
Monitoring Officer 
Level 5 
River Park House  
225 High Road  
Wood Green  
London N22 8HQ 
 
Thursday, 18 September 2014 

Rob Mack 
Senior Policy Officer 
Level 7 
River Park House  
225 High Road  
Wood Green  
London N22 8HQ 
 
Tel: 020 8449 4759 
Email: rob.mack@haringey.gov.uk 



MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY PANEL 

THURSDAY, 27 FEBRUARY 2014 

 
Councillors Brabazon, Bull, Christophides, Engert and Newton (Chair) 

 
Co-opted 
Members 

Ms Y Denny (Church representative) and Mr E Reid (Parent Governor 
representative)  

  
  

CYPS109.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

None. 
 

CYPS110.  URGENT BUSINESS  
 

See item CYP 115 (Hartsbrook – E-Act). 
 
 

CYPS111.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

None.  
 

CYPS112.  DEPUTATIONS/PETITIONS/PRESENTATIONS/QUESTIONS  
 

None.  
 

CYPS113.  MINUTES  
 

In respect of the meeting of 18 December, the Panel noted that Lisa Redfern, 
Director of Children Services (Acting), was now meeting regularly with a group 
of young people, as discussed at the meeting.  The issue of the quality of 
careers guidance had also been raised at the meeting.  Ms Redfern reported 
that clear evidence of the need for improvements was needed in order to 
challenge effectively the Headteachers.  Whilst there was some anecdotal 
evidence of the need for improvements, this needed to be collected in a more 
structured way.  The Year 11 to post 16 data from schools regarding the 
destination of school leavers was the best in 3 years, which implied that they 
were providing better advice and guidance. However, it appeared the picture in 
schools was nevertheless patchy but probably better than most boroughs.  In 
particular, many schools in the borough had dedicated careers staff.  One 
possible option would be to develop a careers co-ordinator network to share 
practice and highlight resources.  A free “light touch” review to all schools.  A 
more detailed and costed review could also be offered.   

 
Jon Abbey, Assistant Director for School Improvement, stated that there was a 
need to improve the tracking of young people and a youth worker would be 
assigned to undertake work on this area.  The Panel noted that £300k had 
been obtained from the Mayors Fund to increase the number of young people 
from Haringey going to Russell Group universities.   

 
It was also noted that links with Highgate School had been maintained and, in 
particular, they were continuing to assist with helping to encourage and prepare 
pupils who might wish to apply for the most selective universities.  In addition, 
Highgate parents were also assisting on Haringey school governing bodies.   

 

Agenda Item 6Page 1



MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY PANEL 

THURSDAY, 27 FEBRUARY 2014 
 

AGREED: 
 

That the minutes of the meetings of 12 November, 5 December (budget) and 
18 December 2013 and 3 February 2014 (evidence session) be approved. 

 
CYPS114.  FOSTERING SERVICE REVIEW AND IMPLEMENTATION  

 
Ms Redfern reported that the recommendations of the review were now being 
actively by Impower.  The Council wished to have high quality foster carers as 
well as those with appropriate skills.   It was essential that the service was both 
responsive and efficient and offered high quality outcomes.  There was a need 
for carers to deal with a wide range of children and young people – from babies 
to adolescents.  Good carers could help turn children’s lives round.  The Panel 
noted that there were currently only 23 children in residential care.  The 
remainder and vast majority were all being cared for by foster carers.  

 
Paul McCarthy, Interim Head of Service (Commissioning and Placements), 
stated that the service wished to carry staff and carers with them in making 
improvements.  Although a very high proportion of looked after children were 
fostered, only a minority were actually placed within Haringey.  Addressing this 
would mean that children were closer to their birth families and have greater 
continuity in their education.   

 
Ambitious objectives had been set.  This year, 17 new foster carers had been 
recruited but 10 had ceased to be carers.  The target for the New Year was to 
recruit 45 and research suggested that this was achievable, especially as it had 
been done elsewhere.  The service wanted all people using the service to 
receive a prompt and friendly response to their enquiries.  The aim was that 
everyone would receive a visit within five days and have their assessment 
completed within 16 weeks.  The assessment could take up to 11 months at the 
moment.  There appeared to be a high level of interest at becoming Haringey 
foster parents.  The prospective provider had a good track record in recruiting 
foster parents, with around 100 taken in Lewisham over 18 months and 40 new 
carers heading towards approval in Southwark.   

 
There could be misconceptions about barriers to fostering and it was important 
that a consistent understanding was developed.  There were a diverse range of 
foster carers and all enquiries were welcome. Full time employment was not a 
barrier as there were some children who could be left alone at home for short 
periods of time.  He was confident that targets could be achieved and that this 
would lead to a transformation of the service.  Collaborative work was being 
undertaken with neighbouring boroughs, particularly in respect of specialist 
foster carers.  It was expected that the contract with the provider would be 
signed next week. 

 
The Panel noted that it was aimed to have 60% of foster carers in-house.  The 
median age of carers was mid 40s and significantly higher than elsewhere.  
However, the majority of people recruited were also likely to be in their 40s.  In 
terms of ethnicity, the service had become less dogmatic on matching children 
to carers of similar ethnic background. The most important thing was that a 
carer could provide suitable support for the individual child.  Adolescents could 
be very clear about their identity and were therefore less likely to become 

Page 2



MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY PANEL 

THURSDAY, 27 FEBRUARY 2014 
 

confused.  There was now greater emphasis on the skills set of carers. The 
Panel also noted that there was now greater clarity on the issue of personal 
allowances for children and their apportionment. 

 
AGREED: 

 
That regular updates on progress with the achievement of targets be reported 
to the Panel and that the first of these be submitted to the Panel in six months 
time. 

 
CYPS115.  HARTSBROOK SCHOOL - E-ACT  

 
At the request of the Chair and as a late item of urgent business, Jon Abbey, 
Assistant Director for School Improvement, reported on the current position of 
Hartsbrook School in the light of recent developments in relation to their 
sponsor, E-Act. 

 
He stated that he had met with the Chief Executive and Deputy Director of E-
Act regarding concerns about performance.  Hartsbrook were one of 16 
schools that E-Act were responsible for and had been inspected by OFSTED at 
the same time.  The issue of safeguarding was of particular concern as 
absences had not always being followed up by the school, according to the 
inspection.  Reviews on governance and operational issues had been 
instigated by the local authority.  It had been made clear that the local authority 
was not happy with the level of engagement that there had been. A letter to the 
school outlining the authority’s concerns regarding performance was being 
drafted and this would also be sent to E-Act, the Department for Education and 
Ofsted.   The letter would make clear the desire of the authority to support and 
engage with the school.  He was not aware yet whether Hartsbrook were one of 
the ten schools that had been removed from E-Act’s control.   

 
The Panel noted that the local authority did not have a specific role in respect 
of the performance of academies.  Ofsted had advised that it was nevertheless 
possible for authorities to send warning notices to such schools.  E-Act had 
indicated that they were prepared to attend a Panel meeting if invited.  There 
was currently no information about possible replacements for E-Act should 
there be a need for the contract to be re-brokered.  However, all providers 
needed to be mindful of avoiding overstretching themselves and due diligence 
would be insisted upon by the authority. 

 
The Panel noted that the authority would have to continue to admit children to 
the school despite its vulnerable status.  Consideration was being given to how 
challenge could be factored into school admissions criteria so such schools 
were not overburdened. It was agreed that any further information about 
developments would be shared with the Panel. 

 
CYPS116.  EARLY HELP OFFER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE  

 
Ms Redfern reported that a dedicated team had been put together to assist with 
piloting the early help approach and were being supported by Impower, who 
were the Council’s strategic partner.  The full strategy would be put in place 

Page 3



MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY PANEL 

THURSDAY, 27 FEBRUARY 2014 
 

after the pilot.  Delivery and outcomes would be monitored so that the success 
of the initiative could be evaluated.   

 
The Panel noted that an Early Help Summit was being held on 4 March and Ms 
Redfern agreed to check to see if Councillors had been included in the 
arrangements for this.  Panel Members stated that the Corporate Parenting 
Advisory Committee had been involved in earlier discussions regarding this 
issue and were of the view that Members of the Committee should have been 
asked for their input.  It was also felt that the aspiration of the initiative might be 
incompatible with the need to focus work on available funding streams. 

 
AGREED: 

 
That further consideration be given to providing an opportunity for Members to 
feed into the development of the initiative.  

  
CYPS117.  EARLY YEARS REVIEW (CORPORATE DELIVERY UNIT) AND UPDATE 

ON WORK TO DATE  
 

Ms Redfern reported that the review was comprehensive and clarified clearly 
the issues that needed to be addressed.   

 
The Panel noted that Waltham Forest had provided grant funding for some 
premises so that they could be developed to enable them to deliver the two-
year-old early entitlement.  Jon Abbey, Assistant Director (School 
Improvement), reported that the service had been tasked to undertake a similar 
process in Haringey.  However, all potential providers would need to be either 
rated as good or outstanding.  It was also noted that the Early Years Project 
Board was currently being reconfigured.  In respect of management costs, it 
was noted that these could appear to be high if Headteachers salaries were 
included and there was a danger that this could provide a misleading 
impression.   

 
Mr Abbey reported that the review had given the service the evidence base that 
had previously been lacking.  It was important that Children’s Centres 
developed further.  An infrastructure needed to be put in place to support them 
as well as a strategy that underpinned financing.  The service was committed to 
drafting a strategy by the end of March and engaging on it with a wide range of 
stakeholders. 

 
Panel Members commented that, in the light of the budget reductions that they 
had faced, Children’s Centres were performing well. They indicated that they 
would welcome a presentation on the Early Years review.   

 
Panel Members also stated that governors had not been interviewed as part of 
the review process.  In addition, some of the comparisons that had been made 
between provision had not been comparing like with like.  Schools were the 
biggest providers of childcare and the challenge was the support and develop 
provision.  The lack of protocols with the NHS had not helped with the progress 
of services.  It was important that there was a strategic document to guide the 
development of services.  The development of the strategy needed to include 
opportunities for input from a range of people, including Members.   

Page 4



MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY PANEL 

THURSDAY, 27 FEBRUARY 2014 
 

 
AGREED: 

 
1. That the completed draft Early Years Strategy comes to a future meeting of 

the Panel; and 
 

2. That, following the local government elections, a presentation of the Early 
Year Review be arranged for Members of the new Panel.  

 
CYPS118.  MULTI-AGENCY SAFEGUARDING HUB (MASH) AND FIRST RESPONSE 

SERVICE INFORMATION SHARING - OUTCOME OF AUDIT  
 

AGREED: 
 

That the report be noted. 
 

CYPS119.  TWO-YEAR-OLD EARLY ENTITLEMENT - CONCLUSIONS AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY 
PANEL PROJECT  
 

AGREED: 
 

That the recommendations of the report be approved and submitted to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for endorsement. 

 
CYPS120.  WORK PLAN  

 
AGREED: 

 
That the following issues be added to the future work plan; 

• Academies and that Academy sponsors be invited to attend; and 

• 6th Form College – update. 
 

CYPS121.  VOTE OF THANKS  
 

It being the last meeting of the Panel for the current Municipal Year, the Chair 
was thanked by the Panel for his work as Chair.  The Chair thanked Members 
and officers for their kind assistance and co-operation. 

 
 

Cllr Martin Newton 
Chair 
 

 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

Report for: 

 
Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Panel 
– 29 September 2014 
 

Item 
Number: 

 

 

Title: Terms of Reference – Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel 

 

Report 
Authorised by: 

 
Cllr Kirsten Hearn 
Chair, Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel  
 

 

Lead Officer: 

 
Robert Mack, Senior Policy Officer, 0208 489 2921 
rob.mack@haringey.gov.uk 
  

 

 
Ward(s) affected: 

 
Report for Key/Non Key Decisions: 

 
1. Describe the issue under consideration 
 
1.1. Within the Overview & Scrutiny structure, there is one overarching Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and four scrutiny panels.   Panels have responsibility for scrutinising their own 
discrete areas of work, which are: 

§ Environment and Community Safety 
§ Adults and Health 
§ Children & Young People 
§ Housing and Regeneration 
 

1.2. The work of the panels is overseen by the main Overview and Scrutiny and 
recommendations made by the panels must be approved by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.   
 

1.3. The Committee has determined the terms of reference of each Scrutiny Panel. If there is 
any overlap between the business of the Panels, it is the responsibility of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to resolve this issue. Areas which are not covered by the four 
scrutiny panels shall be the responsibility of the main Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
1.4. Cabinet Member introduction 

 

Agenda Item 7Page 7



2 

 

N/A 
 

2. Recommendation 
2.1. That the terms of reference for the Panel, as approved by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 31 July 2014, and as replicated at paragraph 4.2 of this report, be noted.  
 

3. Other options considered 
 
N/A 
 

4. Scrutiny Panels 
 

4.1. Scrutiny panels are non-decision making bodies. The work programme and any 
subsequent reports and recommendations that each panel produces must therefore be 
approved by the Overview & Scrutiny Committee.   Such reports can then be referred to 
Cabinet or Council under agreed protocols.  There are generic terms of reference for all 
of the scrutiny panels. 
 

4.2. Terms of Reference for Scrutiny Panels 
 

Policy Development and Review  
4.2.1. Any Scrutiny Panels established by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may, in 

accordance with Part Two, Article 6.03 (b) of the constitution: 
 
i. Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget and policy 

framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues; 
ii. Conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy issues 

and possible options; 
iii. Consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community 

participation in the development of policy options; 
iv. Question members of the Cabinet and chief officers about their views on issues and 

proposals affecting the area; and 
v. Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national, 

regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by 
collaborative working. 

 
Scrutiny 

4.2.2. Any Scrutiny Panels established by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may, in 
accordance with Part Two, Article 6.03 (c) of the constitution: 

 
i. Review and scrutinise the decisions made by and performance of the Cabinet and 

council officers both in relation to individual decisions and over time; 
ii. Review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 

objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
iii. Question members of the Cabinet and chief officers about their decisions and 

performance, whether generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a 
period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 

iv. Make recommendations to the Cabinet or relevant nonexecutive Committee arising 
from the outcome of the scrutiny process; 

v. Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and invite 
reports from them by requesting them to address the overview and scrutiny committee 
and local people about their activities and performance; and 

vi. Question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent). 

Page 8



3 

 

 
Approval of findings and recommendations 

4.2.3. Scrutiny Panels must refer their findings/recommendations to the main Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for approval prior to referral to Cabinet or the Council as 
appropriate.  

 
Policy Areas 

4.2.4. The area of policy covered by the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel are as 
follows (a full list for all panels is contained in Appendix A): 
§ Looked after children 
§ Fostering and adoption 
§ Education e.g. exam results & school improvements 
§ Youth offending 
§ Safeguarding policy 
§ Child poverty 
§ Effectiveness of partnership working 

 

4.3.  Membership of scrutiny panels 
 

4.3.1. As laid out in the Overview and Scrutiny Protocol, individual panels will be chaired by 
a Member of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee. The total membership of the panel will 
consist of between 3 and 7 non executive members and be politically proportional as far 
as possible (including the Chair), and that apart from the Chair, the other Panel members 
are to be non-executive members who do not sit on the OSC. 

 
4.3.2. Each Scrutiny Panel is entitled to appoint up to three non-voting co-optees.  The 

Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel membership shall include the statutory 
education representatives of Overview and Scrutiny Committee. These are: 
 
Ms. Y. Denny (Church of England representative) 
Mr. C. Ekeowa (Catholic Diocese representative) 
Mr. L. Collier (Parent governor representative); and 
Mr K. Taye (Parent governor representative). 
  

4.3.3. It is intended that the education representatives will also attend the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meetings where reports from the relevant scrutiny panel are 
concerning education issues are considered. 
 

4.3.4. The membership of the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel has been agreed 
as thus: 
Cllr Hearn (Chair) 
Cllr Berryman 
Cllr Mark Blake 
Cllr Hare 
Cllr Ibrahim  
Cllr Morris 

 
4.4. Cycle of meetings 
4.4.1. As per the Overview and Scrutiny Protocol, the scrutiny panel will meet five times per 

year, one of which will be a dedicated budget scrutiny meeting.   
 

5. Comments of the Chief Finance Officer and financial implications 
 

Page 9



4 

 

5.1. There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations set out in this 
report.  Should any of the work undertaken by panels generate recommendations with 
financial implications, these will be highlighted at that time. 

 
6. Comments of the Assistant Director Corporate Governance and legal implications 
 
6.1 The Assistant Director Corporate Governance has been consulted on this report. Under 

section 9FA of the Local Government Act 2000 Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
the power to appoint one or more sub-committees to discharge any of its functions. In 
accordance with the Terms of Reference, the Scrutiny Panels may only report their 
conclusions/findings/recommendations to the Cabinet or Council with the approval of 
the main Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
7. Equalities and Community Cohesion Comments 
 
8. Head of Procurement Comments 
 
8.1. N/A 
 
9. Policy Implications 
 
9.1. Scrutiny has a policy development and review role across the Council and with local 
partners.  It is therefore anticipated that the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel 
will, during the course of its work, make recommendations which may impact on the 
policies and practice of the Council and its partners. The implications of such policy 
changes will be assessed by the panel and highlighted in any recommendations to 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet. 

 
10. Use of Appendices 

N/A 
 

11. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
 
 

 

Page 10



5 

 

 Appendix A 

 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny Panel membership and remits 2014-2015 

Scrutiny body Cabinet Link (s) Areas of Responsibility 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
  
Membership: 
Chair: Cllr Gideon Bull (Chair) 
Cllr Pippa Connor (Vice Chair) 
Cllr Charles Adje  
Cllr Barbara Blake 
Cllr Kirsten Hearn 
 
Officer Support: 
Melanie Ponomarenko  
0208 489 2933  
Melanie.Ponomarenko@Haringey.gov.uk 
and 
Martin Bradford  
0208 489 6950 
Martin.Bradford@Haringey.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

Leader of the Council 
Cllr Claire Kober 
 
Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development, Social Inclusion and 
Sustainability 
Cllr Joe Goldberg 
 
Cabinet Member for Resources and 
Culture 
Cllr Jason Arthur 
 
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for 
Communities 
Cllr Bernice Vanier 

Leader 
Growth and inward investment 
Commissioning 
Communications 
External partnerships 
Council performance 
Corporate policy and strategy 
 
Economic Development, Social 
Inclusion and Sustainability 
Tackling unemployment and 
worklessness 
Financial inclusion 
Social inclusion 
Post 16 education 
Increased job opportunities 
Adult Learning and skills 
 
Resources and Culture 
Customer services and Customer 
Transformation Programmes* 
Corporate Infrastructure programme 
Information Technology 
Procurement and commercial 
partnerships 
Council budget 
Council tax, benefits and taxation 
Human resources and staff wellbeing 
Governance services (inc Member 
Enquiries) 

P
a
g
e
 1

1



6 

 

Arts and Culture / Libraries 
 
Communities: 
Equalities 
Community engagement (inc Area 
Forums) 
 
Other: 
St Ann’s Hospital redevelopment 

 
Adults and Health Scrutiny Panel  
 
Membership: 
Cllr Pippa Connor (Chair) 
Cllr Gina Adamou 
Cllr David Beecham 
Cllr Gideon Bull  
Cllr Jennifer Mann 
Cllr James Patterson 
Cllr Anne Stennett 
 
Officer support: 
Melanie Ponomarenko  
0208 489 2933 
Melanie.Ponomarenko@Haringey.gov.uk 

Cabinet Member for Health and 
Wellbeing  
Cllr Peter Morton 
 
 

Health and Wellbeing: 
Adult social care 
Public health 
Safeguarding adults 
Health and social care integration and 
commissioning 
Disabilities 
Voluntary sector engagement 
Working with CCG and NHS 
Children to adult social care transition 

Housing & Regeneration Panel 
 
Membership:  
Cllr Charles Adje (Chair) 
Cllr John Bevan 
Cllr Vincent Carroll  
Cllr Isidoros Diakides 
Cllr Sarah Elliott 
Cllr Gail Engert 
Cllr Denise Marshall 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Regeneration  
Cllr Alan Strickland 
 
Cabinet Member for Planning 
Cllr Ali Demirci 

Housing & Regeneration: 
Tottenham regeneration programme* 
Borough-wide regeneration 
Corporate property and investment 
Housing investment programme 
Housing policy 
Homelessness 
Homes for Haringey and social landlords 
 
Planning: 

P
a

g
e
 1

2



7 

 

 
Officer Support: 
Martin Bradford 
0208 489 6950 
Martin.Bradford@Haringey.gov.uk  
 

Planning policy 
Planning applications and development 
management 
Building Control 
Planning Enforcement 
Houses of Multiple Occupation 

Environment & Community Safety 
Scrutiny Panel 
 
Membership:  
Cllr Barbara Blake (Chair) 
Cllr Natan Doron 
Cllr Tim Gallagher 
Cllr Makbule Gunes 
Cllr Adam Jogee 
Cllr Liz Morris 
Cllr Martin Newton 
 
 
Officer Support: 
Rob Mack  
0208 489 2921 
Rob.Mack@Haringey.gov.uk 
 

Cabinet Member for Environment  
Cllr Stuart McNamara 
 
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for 
Communities 
Cllr Bernice Vanier 
 
Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development, Social Inclusion and 
Sustainability  
Cllr Joe Goldberg 

Environment: 
Streets and Highways 
Parking and traffic management 
Recycling, waste and street cleaning 
Licensing (except HMOs) 
Environmental health and enforcement 
Parks and open spaces 
Leisure and Leisure Centres 
 
Communities: 
Community Safety 
Engagement with the Police 
Tackling antisocial behaviour 
 
 Economic Development, Social 
Inclusion and Sustainability   
Carbon Reduction and Haringey 40:20 
 

Children & Young People Scrutiny 
Panel 
 
Membership: 
Cllr Kirsten Hearn (Chair) 
Cllr Pat Berryman 
Cllr Mark  Blake 
Cllr Bob Hare 
Cllr Emine Ibrahim 
Cllr Liz Morris 
 

Cabinet Member for Children and 
Families 
Cllr Ann Waters 
 

Children & Families: 
Outstanding for all - schools and learning 
Safeguarding children 
Early years and child care 
Adoption and fostering 
Looked-after children 
Children with disabilities or additional 
needs 
Haringey 54,000 programme* 
Youth and Youth Offending Services 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

3



8 

 

 
Officer Support: 
Rob Mack 
0208 489 2921 
Rob.Mack@Haringey.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

P
a

g
e
 1

4



1 

 

 

 

Report for: 
Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Panel – 
29 September 2014 

Item 
Number: 

 

 

Title: Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel; Workplan for 2014/15 

 

Report 
Authorised by: 

 
Cllr Kirsten Hearn 
Chair, Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel  
 

 

Lead Officer: 

 
Robert Mack, Senior Policy Officer, 0208 489 2921 
rob.mack@haringey.gov.uk 
  

 

 
Ward(s) affected: 

 
Report for Key/Non Key Decisions: 

 
1. Describe the issue under consideration 
 
1.1. This report outlines the workplan for the Children and Yong People’s Scrutiny Panel for 
2014/15 as well as highlighting a number of considerations that may influence the 
effectiveness and success of scrutiny. 
 

1.2. Cabinet Member introduction 
 
N/A 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1. That the Panel recommend to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that the draft work 
plan for the Panel be approved.   
 

3. Other options considered 
 
N/A 
 

4. Development of Workplan 
 

4.1 The process for the development of the work plan for the Panel begun in July with the 
review by undertaken Centre for Public Scrutiny in July of the structure of scrutiny and 

Agenda Item 8Page 15



2 

 

priorities for the work programme.  Following this, the Scrutiny Cafe consultation 
event was held, involving non executive members, officers and key partners to 
discuss the issues arising from the review and, in particular, the development of the 
work plan.  
 

4.2 The structure of overview and scrutiny and the formal constitution of the scrutiny 
panels was approved by Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 31 July.  Following 
this, the Chair of the Panel met with the Cabinet Member for Children and Families 
and senior officers in August 14 to discuss the suggestions that had come out of the 
work planning process to date as well as any other potential issues that might be 
included.  An informal Panel meeting was held on 8 September so that Panel 
Members could also input their views on the work plan proposals.  

 
4.3 The work plan can include the following: 

• In-depth projects; 

• One-off reports on specific issues from services; 

• Question and Answer sessions with Cabinet Members or key partners; 

• Performance reports; and 

• Budget scrutiny. 
 
5.  In-depth projects 
 
5.1  In depth projects involve the Panel considering an issue intensively over a period of 

time before making recommendations.  This process can include evidence gathering 
sessions, consultation events and research.  Panels normally undertake one in-depth 
piece of work at a time.  Additional projects can be started once previous pieces of 
work have been completed.  Work on them can be undertaken at scheduled meetings 
of the Panel or additional evidence gathering sessions can be arranged.  In addition, 
other activities to gather information and evidence can be included, such as visits.  It is 
intended that the format is very flexible and approaches adopted that fit best with the 
issue being considered and likely to be most effective. 

 
5.2     The following issues have so far been identified as potential in-depth reviews; 
 

1. Transition for young people.  The journey for young people from adolescence to 
adulthood with aim of gaining an understanding of what it is like to be a young 
person in Haringey at the moment.  To cover universal as well as targeted services 
and involve other scrutiny panels. 

 
2.  Childhood obesity.  How is this addressed by the Council, schools and other 
partners? 

 
5.3   Further work will need to be undertaken to develop the scope and terms of reference 

for these should they be selected. 
 
6. Other Issues  

 
6.1    A number of other issues have also been identified as part of the work planning process 

to date.  These could be dealt with as one-off items or future in-depth pieces of work; 
 

• Bullying/hate crime in schools; 
 

Page 16



3 

 

• Council contracts, including Haringey 54000;   
 

• OFSTED report on services for children in need of help and protection, children 
looked after and care leavers and review of the effectiveness of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board; 
 

• Committees/boards/voluntary organisations relevant to children and young people; 
 

• Test/exam results; 
 

• Safeguarding and organised sexual abuse; and  
 

• School improvement – progress of new academies. 
 
6.2 A proposed schedule for consideration of these items at Panel meetings for this year 

is attached as Appendix A.   
 

7. Good Scrutiny 
 
7.1  In determining the work plan and priorities for the year, it may be useful for Panel 

Members to give some consideration as to what may constitute good scrutiny.   
 
7.2 Scrutiny performs a number of functions: 

 
• Holding to account;  This can achieved by:  

− Holding internal and external decision makers to account 
− Cabinet question and answer sessions  
− Calling in Cabinet decisions 
 

• Assisting in the development of policy and strategies; This can include: 
− Undertaking in-depth reviews on particular issues 
− Commenting on departmental strategies 
− Performance monitoring 
 

• Budget scrutiny/ monitoring 
 
7.3 The Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) has set out four general principles of good 

scrutiny.  These propose that good scrutiny should:  
 

• Provide a ‘critical friend’ challenge to executive policy-makers and decision-makers.  
This should be constructive, robust and purposeful.   

 
• Enable the voice and concerns of the public and its community.  This should facilitate 
an ongoing dialogue with the public in order to create an ‘accountability relationship’.  
Scrutiny should also represent and engage with diverse communities and address 
inequalities where they exist as well as promoting public understanding of the scrutiny 
role. 
  

• Be carried out by “independent minded governors” who lead and own the scrutiny 
process.  They should be champions of the value and potential of good public 
scrutiny as a vehicle for accountability.   

• Drive improvement in public services.   

Page 17



4 

 

7.3 A key part of the role of scrutiny is to promote transparency and openness.  In keeping 
with this principle, scrutiny meetings should wherever possible be open to the public and 
papers should be made available to the public. 
 

7.4 Scrutiny is intended to be non party political and is not subject to the party whip.  
Although there are provisions for voting, recommendations agreed this way can be less 
effective in influencing decision makers.  Scrutiny therefore works best when there is 
consensus. 

  
7.5 In terms of delivering outcomes, scrutiny has very limited formal powers and generally 

achieves them by means of influence.  It is therefore important to develop constructive 
relationships with decision makers so that they are likely to be receptive to the views of 
scrutiny.   
 

7.6 Input from scrutiny needs to be persuasive if it is to influence decision makers effectively. 
A well argued case with cross party support that is backed up with solid evidence is most 
likely to bring about a successful outcome.  Evidence to back up recommendations can 
come from various sources, such as: 

− Feedback from local stakeholders; 

− Experience and good practice from other local authorities; and  

− Information from specialist agencies, national organisations etc. 
 

7.7 Although outcomes are very important, they are not always easy to measure.  For 
instance, if there is an expectation that decisions will be subject to close scrutiny, it is 
likely that this will encourage more robust processes for making them and therefore 
promote better decision making. In addition, challenging and ambitious 
recommendations are likely to have less chance of being agreed to than ones that are 
ineffectual.   

 
7.8 Good and effective scrutiny should also: 

• Tackle strategic and significant issues that are important to local residents; 

• Not duplicate or conflict with work taking place elsewhere; 

• Should add value to the work of the Council and its partners; and 

• Be timely. 
 

8 Comments of the Chief Finance Officer and financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations set out in this 
report.  Should any of the work undertaken by panels generate recommendations with 
financial implications, these will be highlighted at that time. 

 
9 Comments of the Assistant Director Corporate Governance and Legal Implications 
 
9.1 Scrutiny panels work programme and the subsequent reports and recommendations that each 
panel produces must be approved by the Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 

 
Appendix A 
 
Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel – Work Plan 
 
Agenda Items 
 

Page 18



5 

 

Monday 29th September; 
1. OFSTED report on services for children in need of help and protection, children looked 
after and care leavers and review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board  

2. Committees/boards relevant to children and young people  
3. Workplan/what good scrutiny looks like. 
 
Monday 3rd. November; 
1. Council contracts, including Haringey 54000. 
2. Safeguarding & organised sexual abuse   
   

Monday 11th December (Budget);   
Mid Term Financial Plan 
 
Thursday 22nd January;  
1. Test/exam results 
2. School improvement – progress of new academies 
 
Tuesday 17th March;  
Bullying/hate crime in schools 
 
Project; 
Transition for young people: The journey for young people from adolescence to adulthood 
with aim of gaining an understanding of what it is like to be a young person in Haringey at the 
moment.   

 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 1 

London Borough of Haringey 
Inspection of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers 

and 

Review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board1 

Inspection date: 20 May 2014  11 June 2014 

Report published: 18 July 2014 

The overall judgement is requires improvement 

There are no widespread or serious failures that create or leave children being 
harmed or at risk of harm. The welfare of looked after children is safeguarded and 
promoted. However, the authority is not yet delivering good protection and help and 
care for children, young people and families.  

, as a minimum, all children and young people receive 
good help, care and protection. 

1. Children who need help and protection 
Requires 
improvement 

2. Children looked after and achieving permanence 
Requires 
improvement 

 

2.1 Adoption performance  
Requires 
improvement 

2.2 Experiences and progress of care leavers 
Requires 
improvement 

3. Leadership, management and governance 
Requires 
improvement 

 

The effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is requires 
improvement 

The LSCB is not yet demonstrating the characteristics of good.  

                                           

 
1 Ofsted produces this report under its power to combine reports in accordance with section 152 of the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006. This report includes the report of the inspection of local authority functions carried out under section 136 
of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the report of the review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board carried out 
under the Local Safeguarding Children Boards (Review) Regulations 2013. 

Agenda Item 9Page 21



 

 

 2 

Contents 
Section 1: the local authority 3 

Summary of key findings 3 

What does the local authority need to improve? 6 

Information about this local authority area 9 

Inspection judgements about the local authority 12 

What the inspection judgements mean: the local authority 28 

Section 2: The effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children Board 29 

What the inspection judgements mean: the LSCB 33 

Page 22



 

 

 3 

Section 1: the local authority 

Summary of key findings 

This local authority requires improvement and is not yet good because 

1. Haringey does not yet have a comprehensive and co-ordinated early help 
offer that meets the needs of children, young people and their families. 
The number of families receiving early help via the common assessment 
framework has remained low for the last three years. 

2. Strategy discussions within the First Response team do not routinely 
involve agencies other than  social care services and the police. 

3.  services have significantly improved the 
number of initial child protection conferences held within 15 working days 
of the decision to undertake a child protection investigation, performance 
is below expectations, resulting in some children not receiving co-
ordinated help and support via a child protection plan as quickly as they 
should.  

4. Some children who are referred to  social care services where 
concerns relate to chronic neglect may not always receive timely or 
thorough assessments; this leads to delays in receiving a service and in 
fully exploring risks and needs. 

5. The sufficiency and quality of the in-house fostering service provision are 
under-developed. Foster carers are not adequately supported through 
training and by their supervising social workers, so they do not have the 
necessary skills to deal with the challenging behaviours and complex 
needs of some looked after children and young people. 

6. There is insufficient understanding of the impact of risky behaviour in 
assessments and plans for older looked after children. Their vulnerability 
and susceptibility to involvement in gangs, child sexual exploitation (CSE) 
and offending behaviour, and the subsequent impact on their life chances, 
are not always fully explored. 

7. Although timescales for placing children for adoption have improved, the 
authority currently takes an average of 39 weeks to match a child to an 
adoptive family, following the making of a Placement Order. This is 
outside the 26 week statutory timescale. 

8. Long term planning arrangements for some children are under-developed. 
This means that some children will experience more placements, because 
opportunities are missed to place them early with the foster families that 
will go on to adopt them. For others, suitable contingency plans are not in 
place, so they could experience delay or an unnecessary additional move. 

Page 23



 

 

 4 

9. Insufficient priority is given to life story work to support children who are 
subject to adoption. Some children have important gaps in their 
knowledge about their past, leading to difficulties in developing their 
sense of identity and in their emotional and behavioural development. 

10. Some care leavers are not aware of their entitlements to financial support, 
or how to access the leaving care grant. Care leavers have very limited 
choice of supplier when making use of their grant to set up home. All care 
leavers have a pathway plan, but the quality of these is variable. The 
plans are not specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time limited 
(SMART), and are not used effectively to take account of young people s 
aspirations or to shape and map out their future. 

11. Some aspects of previously good performance have not been sustained. 
For example, the proportion of care leavers in education, training and 
employment has deteriorated from 63% in March 2013 to 47% in March 
2014.  

The local authority has the following strengths 

12. Haringey is making progress in the delivery of its children  social care 
services. The senior leadership team has a good understanding of the 
strengths and weaknesses of the service and is clear about its priorities.  

13. Referral rates have steadily reduced over the last four years, from a very 
high rate in 2009 10. The rates of children subject to a child protection 
plan and the number of children entering the looked after care system 
have stabilised and numbers are now beginning to reduce safely. The 
majority of casework seen by inspectors was of good quality.  

14. The timeliness and quality of assessments are improving and this is 
leading to earlier and more effective interventions and to improving 
outcomes for children, young people and families. 

15. The voice of the child is clearly evident in the majority of case recording 
and assessments. This is supported by the structure of a single 
assessment report which is enabling social workers to focus more sharply 
on the presenting needs of children and to shape plans and interventions 
to safely reduce risk. 

16. Swift action is taken when child protection concerns are identified. The 
screening team and Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) arrangements 
promote good information sharing to inform effective investigations and 
ensure that the most vulnerable children who need protection are 
safeguarded in a timely way. In most cases seen by inspectors, parental 
consent was obtained prior to information sharing if appropriate. 

Page 24



 

 

 5 

17. Good quality pre-proceedings work and the effective use of the Public Law 
Outline are ensuring that children remain with their families whenever 
possible and that they do not enter the care system unnecessarily. 

18. Most looked after children have sustained and meaningful relationships 
with their social workers, who know them well; this is leading to 
improvements in the quality of recent assessments and plans. 

19. Ensuring good educational outcomes for looked after children is a strong 
feature of the looked after children service. Children who are looked after 
do well in their education at all key stages. A good proportion remain in 
education post-16 and good support is provided for young people who 
aspire to higher education. 

20. Adoption performance is improving from a low base. The capacity of the 
service has been increased, and better targeting and matching are leading 
to more children achieving permanence and leaving care through this 
route.  

21. Overall, permanence arrangements for children are improving; this 
includes good use of Special Guardianship Orders and long term foster 
care. 

22. Social workers provide good support for prospective adopters throughout 
the adoption process, from the initial enquiry to post-adoption support. 

23. Aspirations and support for care leavers into higher education are strong 
features of the service. Currently 65 care leavers are at university and 106 
are in further education. Young people are encouraged to take up places 
at college and university, and they are supported effectively while they are 
there. 

24. All care leavers have a named personal adviser who offers them support 
on housing, education, independent living skills and employment to guide 
them into adulthood. 

25. Although performance on the rate of young people living in suitable 
accommodation has declined this year from 79% in March 2013 to 74% in 
March 2014, there is a good and increasing range of housing options 
available. This is underpinned by strong partnership work to ensure that 
care leavers know and understand the importance of maintaining their 
tenancy. No young person is currently placed in bed and breakfast 
accommodation. 

Page 25



 

 

 6 

What does the local authority need to improve? 

Areas for improvement 

26. Accelerate plans to provide a comprehensive and well coordinated multi-
agency early help offer which builds on the principles of integrated 
working. This should include shared commissioning arrangements which 
maximise resources, so that the needs of children and young people 
across the borough are met. 

27. Ensure that strategy discussions include all relevant agencies. 

28. Ensure that all children in need receive a timely assessment, and the 
support that they need at an early stage to safely reduce risk.  

29. Improve the quality of assessments for children who are referred to 
 where concerns relate to chronic neglect, so that 

they fully consider historical concerns, particularly where these include 
concerns relating to domestic violence, drug or alcohol abuse and adult 
mental ill health. 

30. Ensure that adequate steps are taken to promote awareness of privately 
fostered children in the borough, and that children who are privately 
fostered receive a timely, high quality assessment and the support that 
they need. 

31. Consolidate recent improvements made in the number of timely 
completions of initial child protection conferences held within 15 working 
days, so that children do not experience delay in receiving co-ordinated 
support to address risk and needs through the use of a child protection 
plan.  

32. Ensure that all agencies know and understand the role of the Local 
Authority Designated Officer, and know what to do if they have any 
concerns. 

33. Ensure that sufficient in-house and local foster carers are recruited, so 
that more looked after children and young people can live nearer to their 
communities, if appropriate. 

34. Ensure that all looked after young people have a pathway plan which is 
produced jointly with them, so that they know and understand their plan 
and recognise its relevance in supporting their progression into 
independence and adulthood. 

35. Ensure that life story work is completed at the first opportunity, so that 
looked after children understand their life journey in the care system. 

Page 26



 

 

 7 

36. Ensure that risks posed to looked after children and young people are 
comprehensively assessed, documented and reviewed, taking into account 
the changing age and stage of their lives, and that managers and social 
workers consider the life histories of children and relevant research when 
making medium- and long-term plans for children. 

37. Ensure that the role of the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) is 
enhanced so that they properly challenge drift and delay in plans and 
escalate concerns about the quality of service provision, so that risks 
posed to specific groups of children and young people are known and 
understood and action is taken. 

38.  are delivered, 
including to those involved in the criminal justice system, so that risk can 
be better assessed and well-targeted services provided to support them to 
improve their life chances.   

39. Consolidate performance in areas that were previously good, such as 
employment, education and training, suitable accommodation for care 
leavers and dental health checks for all looked after children so that the 
recent dip in performance is quickly rectified. 

40. Ensure that all looked after children and care leavers know and 
understand their rights and entitlements and know how to make a 
complaint, to ensure that their needs are fully understood and acted on. 

41. Ensure that care leavers are informed about their health histories and that 
they know and understand the arrangements to access their health 
records should they need to in later life.  

42. Ensure performance management and data collection and retrieval 
systems are robust, and that quantitative data and qualitative data are 
used to better inform management decisions and drive improvement.  

Page 27



 

 

 8 

Information about this inspection 

Inspectors have looked closely at the experiences of children and young people who 
have needed or still need help and/or protection. This also includes children and 
young people who are looked after and young people who are leaving care and 
starting their lives as young adults. 

Inspectors considered the quality of work and the difference adults make to the lives 
of children, young people and families. They read case files, watched how 
professional staff work with families and each other and discussed the effectiveness 
of help and care given to children and young people. Wherever possible, they talked 
to children, young people and their families. In addition the inspectors have tried to 
understand what the local authority knows about how well it is performing, how well 
it is doing and what difference it is making for the people who it is trying to help, 
protect and look after. 

The inspection of the local authority was carried out under section 136 of the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board was carried out under section 
15A of the Children Act 2004. 

Ofsted produces this report of the inspection of local authority functions and the 
review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board under its power to combine reports 
in accordance with section 152 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. 
 
The inspection team consisted of seven 
Ofsted. 

The inspection team 

Lead inspector: Gary Lamb HMI 

Team inspectors: Linda Steele HMI, Dominic Stevens HMI, Karen McKeown HMI, 
Susan Myers HMI, Jon Bowman HMI and Peter McEntee HMI. 

Page 28



 

 

 9 

Information about this local authority area2 

Children living in this area 

 Approximately 58,200 children and young people under the age of 18 years 
live in Haringey. This is 22.5% of the total population in the area. 

 Approximately 31.9  

 The proportion of children entitled to free school meals: 

 in primary schools is 26.4% (the national average is 18.1%) 

 in secondary schools is 32.6% (the national average is 15.1%). 

 Children and young people from minority ethnic groups account for 70% of 
all children living in the area, compared with 21.5% in the country as a 
whole. 

 The largest minority ethnic groups of children and young people in the area 
are White Other 29.2%, White British 18.7%, Black African 16.6% and Black 
Caribbean 9.2%. 

 The proportion of children and young people with English as an additional 
language: 

 in primary schools is 54.2% (the national average is 18.1%)  

 in secondary schools is 47.7% (the national average is 13.6%). 

 2015 shows that: 

 87% of children eligible for free school meals live in the east of the 
borough 

 7,388 households have dependent children and no adults in 
employment (14.8% in Northumberland Park compared to 1.6% in 
Crouch End) (2011 Census ONS) 

 72.6% of children living in poverty live in lone parent households 

 10.4% of households are lone parents, with most living in 
Northumberland Park  

 723 children are known to provide unpaid care to family members 

 5,000 children and young people under 18 years old live in temporary 
accommodation (July 2013) 

 there are 11,445 households with children living in accommodation 
classified as overcrowded (2011 Census ONS). 

                                           

 
2 The local authority was given the opportunity to review this section of the report and has updated it 

with local unvalidated data where this was available. 

Page 29



 

 

 10 

 

Child protection in this area 

 At 31 March 2014, 2,469 children had been identified through assessment 
as being formally  This is a 
reduction from 3,074 at 31 March 2013. 

 At 31 March 2014, 201 children and young people were the subject of a 
child protection plan. This is a reduction from 268 at 31 March 2013. 

 At 31 March 2014, 13 children lived in a privately arranged fostering 
placement. This is an increase from 12 at 31 March 2013. 

Children looked after in this area 

 At 31 March 2014, 507 children were being looked after by the local 
authority (a rate of 88 per 10,000 children). This is a reduction from 540 
(93.8 per 10,000 children) at 31 March 2013. Of this number: 

 359 (or 74%) live outside the local authority area 

 21 live in residential  homes, of whom 90% live out of the 
authority area 

 7 live in residential special schools3, of whom 100% live out of the 
authority area 

 388 live with foster families, of whom 77% live out of the authority 
area 

 4 live with parents, of whom 50% live out of the authority area 

 35 are unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 

 In the last 12 months: 

 there have been 38 adoptions 

 26 children became subjects of Special Guardianship Orders 

 259 children have ceased to be looked after, of whom 5% 
subsequently returned to be looked after 

 4 children and young people who have ceased to be looked after 
have moved on to independent living 

 13 children and young people who have ceased to be looked after are 
now living in houses of multiple occupation. 

                                           

 
3 These are residential special schools that look after children for fewer than 295 days. 

Page 30



 

 

 11 

 

Other Ofsted inspections 

 The local authority operates one It was judged to be 
satisfactory at its most recent Ofsted full inspection.   

 The previous inspection of Haringey safeguarding arrangements for 
children was in February 2011. The local authority was judged to be 
adequate. 

 The previous inspection of Haringey en was 
in February 2011. The local authority was judged to be adequate. 

Other information about this area 

 April 2014. 

 The chair of the LSCB has been in post since May 2014. 

Page 31



 

 

 12 

Inspection judgements about the local authority 

The experiences and progress of children who need help and protection 
require improvement 

43. Haringey provides a range of good quality early help programmes but, for 
children whose needs are below the threshold for statutory social work 
intervention, services are not well co-ordinated. This means that some 
children in Haringey do not currently receive an appropriate range of co-
ordinated early help services when they need them. The local authority is 
currently developing early help service delivery through the use of three 
pilots, focusing on different age groups
centre, one in a primary school and another in a high school; the pilots 
have helpfully targeted children across all age ranges to learn and help 
shape plans for future service delivery. The three early help pilot schemes 
do not include the full range of relevant agencies. The local authority is 
aware of the gap in early help services, and firm plans are in place with 
partner agencies to improve the scale and range of the early help service 
offer.  

44. The number of families receiving early help via the common assessment 
framework (CAF) has remained low for the last three years, and agencies 
do not have a common approach to assessing need and co-ordinating 
help. Children do not always receive help early enough when complex or 
more serious needs are emerging; the help that is provided is not always 
built on a clear assessment or developed in response to their changing 
needs.  

45. Although limited in the geographical area they cover and the range of 
agencies involved, the three early help pilots have had a positive impact 
on improving outcomes for some Haringey children, and inspectors saw 
examples of good early help to support children and families. Har

s Troubled Families programme, Haringey 
Families First  (April 2013 to March 2014), has resulted in some good joint 
agency working. Within its first seven months of operation, 390 families 
were targeted, and improved outcomes have already been achieved for 
children in 125 of those families. 

46. Referral rates have steadily decreased from a high level over the last four 
years, and in 2012 13 were below similar authorities and England. Most 
contacts and referrals social care services are dealt with in a 
timely manner s screening team, the multi-agency 
safeguarding hub (MASH) and the out-of-hours emergency duty team. 
However, some contacts are held in the screening team for three days 
and occasionally longer, which leads to delays in seeing children and 

 

Page 32



 

 

 13 

47. Decisions about thresholds of need and risk are made by qualified and 
experienced workers. The range of agencies involved in the MASH, 
including health and the police child abuse investigation team, mean that 
it is a particularly effective arena for sharing information and taking multi-
agency decisions about protecting children. 

48. In most cases, thresholds for access to children  social care services are 
appropriately applied. Decisions are supported by a clear and detailed 
threshold document which includes the identification of children at risk of 
significant harm, children in need and guidance on when it is appropriate 
to step-down support to an early help level. In almost all cases seen by 
inspectors, children who are assessed as meeting the threshold of 
significant harm at the point of referral are swiftly passed to one of the 
local authority for intervention and further 
assessment. 

49. There is a high level of deprivation in Haringey, and concerns about child 
neglect were seen in many cases examined by inspectors. In a few cases 
where there are concerns about chronic neglect, the risks arising from 
longstanding patterns of behaviour, including those relating to domestic 
violence, mental ill-health and drug and alcohol abuse, are not identified 
quickly enough. This leads to a failure to escalate some cases to a child 
protection investigation, or to provide relevant services in a timely way. 
The local authority has recognised this issue; it has appointed four 
additional staff and has begun a review of child in need work. 

50. Child protection strategy meetings held in the MASH benefit from relevant 
attendance and information from partner agencies to inform effective 
decision making. Meetings are clearly recorded and authorised by a 
manager; responsibilities and timescales for action are agreed. Although 
appropriate decisions are being made based on the perceived risks posed 
to children, strategy discussions held within First Response teams do not 
always include all relevant agencies, resulting in decisions about risk and 
necessary actions being less well informed. 

51. Almost all social workers are knowledgeable about the children they are 
working with. They see them regularly and see them alone. Inspectors 
saw good examples of effective and creative direct work to enhance 
workers  
relationships with children. Social workers  case records are up to date and 
some demonstrate good analysis and a focus on the voice of the child. 
Although chronologies are being maintained in most of the cases seen, 
and some recent chronologies are of good quality, practice is not 
consistent.  

52. Assessments are increasingly timely: 76% of assessments were completed 
within 45 working days between July 2013 and March 2014 and current 
performance is at 86%. Most assessments are comprehensive, consider 

Page 33



 

 

 14 

historical information, have a strong sense of the child
clear analysis which helps shape appropriate plans. The quality of 
assessments has improved since the introduction of the new single 
assessment format in July 2013. 

53. The number of initial child protection case conferences held in Haringey 
has reduced and is now in line with similar areas. The percentage held 
within the statutory 15 working day timescale has improved significantly, 
from 16% in March 2013 to 45% March 2014 and 68% for April to May 
2014. However, this figure is still too low and, although no children were 
identified as being inadequately risk assessed or in immediate risk of 
significant harm, some children are not receiving co-ordinated help via a 
child protection plan as quickly as they should. 

54. Decisions made at initial child protection conferences reflect the assessed 
level of risk, and children are not subjected to child protection plans 
unnecessarily. Almost all child protection and child in need plans are 
reviewed regularly by well-attended review conferences, core groups and 
child in need meetings. Most plans are clear about the outcomes needed 
for children and the actions necessary to achieve them. However, in a 
minority of plans this is not the case. This does not help families to 
understand what is expected of them or promote effective joint working. 

55. In most situations, the risks posed to children from domestic abuse are 
well understood. Specialist support services are quickly identified and 
information about high risk cases is shared with the Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference (MARAC) so that safety plans can be put into 
place. Work to engage perpetrators of domestic violence has been 
strengthened recently through the commissioning of a 26-week 
programme which is now being offered to some perpetrators of domestic 
violence; the early analysis of impact and outcomes shows that social 
workers are increasingly confident in engaging perpetrators, determining 
where improvement has been made and making case work decisions 
where change has not occurred. 

56. Children missing from home or care are identified, and return interviews 
are offered to them with a worker from the independent Miss-U  service. 
The Council recorded 120 instances of children going missing during the 
preceding year in its April 2012 scrutiny report. This figure is in line with 
other London Boroughs. However, information is not analysed regularly or 
in sufficient depth for trends or outcomes for children, and this makes it 
difficult to assess impact or identify possible service improvements. In May 
2014, 146 Haringey children were missing from education. While in most 
cases children successfully re-engage in education, there is notable delay 
in more complex cases. Opportunities are being missed to tackle the 
presenting issues early to prevent a pattern of absence developing. 

Page 34



 

 

 15 

57. Individual children and young people who are identified as at risk of 
sexual exploitation receive a tailored assessment and support. Ten cases 
have been referred in the six months prior to the inspection. However, this 
work is still in its early stages of development. Information is not used to 
develop an understanding of trends, or how perpetrators operate to abuse 
children. For example, information gathered from return interviews when 
children go missing is not analysed or used to link to intelligence and 
information on gangs or to map risks. 

58. Despite recent additional resources, the number of known private 
fostering arrangements is low and efforts to raise awareness have been 
unsuccessful. 

59. Partner agencies do not have sufficient awareness of the role of the Local 
Authority Designated Officer (LADO) in investigating allegations against 
professionals; in particular, there are low numbers of referrals from health 
agencies and early years settings. The most recent LADO annual report 
lacks clear analysis, so the local authority cannot be assured that all 
agencies know and understand their roles and responsibilities and what to 
do if they have a concern. 

60. Disabled children in Haringey experience timely and effective interventions 
based on good assessments of their needs and risks to ensure that they 
are protected and their welfare enhanced. This work is underpinned by a 
detailed d ring a full range of 
work with disabled children and giving helpful guidance to workers. This is 
supporting good practice and improving responses to this vulnerable 
group of children. 

61. Help provided services takes account of the 
ethnicity, language and culture of children and their families; good use is 
made of interpreters and other resources, for example, a Romanian 
project worker. The local authority has a dedicated team providing 
specialist support to children and families who have no recourse to public 
funds.  a worker sponsored by the Home 
Office, and has demonstrably improved the welfare of children through 
practical and specialist support with issues such as housing and 
determining immigration status. 

Page 35



 

 

 16 

The experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving 
permanence require improvement 

62. The number of children becoming looked after is reducing as a result of a 
better application of the thresholds for care, supported by effective pre-
proceedings work. A small number of children enter the system through 
emergency powers, so the vast majority of children and young people 
who become looked after do so in a properly assessed and planned way. 
Effective use of the Public Law Outline, improvements in the quality of 
court work and liaison with C Guardians have resulted in a 
significant reduction in the time spent by children in achieving 
permanence through the courts. This has reduced from 67 weeks in 
2012 13 to 33 weeks at the end of 2013 14, which is now better than the 
national average. Inspectors saw some good examples of the use of 
family group conferences to establish potential carers early, but delays 
have occurred in making permanent arrangements, largely due to family 
members wishing to be assessed as carers late in proceedings. The quality 
of letters sent to parents or carers before proceedings is too variable. 
Some letters miss important details, for example the date of the letter, 
and others lack clarity in the detail of what is required from parents to 
address the concerns of the local authority. 

63. Although the plans for the majority of children and young people who 
enter court proceedings are not to return to their birth families, where 
there is a plan for them to return home, a range of specialist interventions 
is used to support them. Multi-systemic therapy with 12 to 17 years olds is 
used successfully for families, both where care is being considered and for 
those children who are returning home. The Family Intervention Project is 
used well to provide intensive individual help and parenting support as 
part of assessment and rehabilitation plans. In cases seen by inspectors, 
sensitive work was undertaken to re-integrate children with their families, 
including increasing contact to meet the needs of the children and good 
links with community groups to support the family. In 2013 14, 104 
looked after children returned home. During the same year, 27 children 
returned to care after being at home for less than 12 months. 

64. The majority of social workers in the children in care service are 
experienced and many have worked for the local authority for a long time. 
As a result, many children and young people have longstanding 
relationships with workers who understand them well and have aspirations 
for their future. Almost all statutory visits are undertaken within 
timescales, despite a number of children being placed at a distance from 
the local authority area. On visits, children are routinely seen and seen on 
their own. Social workers talk to them about their lives and their views 
about their placements, and help them celebrate their successes. 
However, some children are visited within school settings and, in 
arranging these visits, there is insufficient thought about whether this is in 
the interests of the child or young person.  

Page 36



 

 

 17 

65. Case recording is largely up to date and reflects the progress of the case, 
and there is appropriate management oversight. Care plans reflect the 
immediate needs of the child or young person. However, there is 
insufficient consideration of life histories of children and young people, 
and of the use of research findings in making plans for their medium and 
long term future. Life story work is not prioritised for children where the 
plan for permanence is not for them to return home, meaning that some 
children do not have a clear view of their life history. 

66. For some older children, their care plan and the services they receive do 
not sufficiently consider potential risks that they may be exposed to in 
their lives, for example that of sexual exploitation or the influence of gang 
culture. Where children are involved in the criminal justice system, 
communication occurs between the relevant youth offending teams and 
social workers, but there is insufficient co-ordination of work to ensure 
that these children and young people remain engaged and their needs are 
met. Children who go missing from care are offered an interview with a 
member of the participation team within the local authority, who will visit 
them at their placement. Where these interviews occur, children and 
young people are offered support to address any problems that they have 
highlighted. Most children live in long-term, stable foster placements. 
Processes to find suitable placements for children are sensitive to the 
individual needs of the child, including their cultural identity and their 
need for a long-term placement with families who can support them as 
they grow up. 
placements are not considered permanent placements for children. As a 
result, the vast majority of children benefit from a placement with a 
family, with just 21 children of the 507 looked after who are placed in 

.  

67. The authority effectively prioritises the placing of children with their 
brothers and sisters, where this is in their best interests. Where this is not 
the case, arrangements for contact are well considered, and inspectors 
saw some good examples of work with foster carers so that siblings can 
share time positively together. Special Guardianship Orders are used well 
as a way to ensure permanence and where children have specific needs; 
carers continue to be well supported by the local authority. The local 
authority has a policy of placing children in provision judged good or 
better, and the vast majority of children are placed in good or better 
placements. Two children miles 
from their home who were visited by inspectors for this inspection are 
making good progress. A review system is in place to consider the impact 
on the individual child of a placement judgement being reduced following 
an inspection. At the time of the inspection, two young people were 
placed in semi-independent settings that were judged as inadequate. The 
local authority has undertaken visits and is proactive in its efforts to 
ensure that the individual young people concerned are safe, and it is 
actively supporting progress to make improvements in these situations. 

Page 37



 

 

 18 

Effective and timely responses are made to meet the needs of homeless 
16 and 17 year-olds and those remanded to the care of the local authority 
under the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 

68. The local authority does not have sufficient in-house foster carers with 
relevant skills and experience. This means that too many children and 
young people live more than 20 miles from the borough. The local 
authority has begun to take action to improve this. An external social work 
provider has been commissioned to recruit and train new foster carers and 
to improve the quality of in-house provision through a range of strategies, 
including ensuring better support and training for existing carers. 
However, at the time of the inspection, foster carers did not feel properly 
engaged with the improvement process. They reported to inspectors that 
they received variable levels of supervision and support from their 
supervising social worker. Some foster carers had not been allocated a 
supervising social worker to support them for long periods of time, or they 
had experienced a succession of agency social workers who did not give 
them consistent advice. There are no systems in place within the local 
authority to celebrate the achievements of existing foster carers or 
recognise their contribution to services for looked after children. Although 
a scheme for delegated responsibility for foster carers is in place so that 
they can make some decisions about the lives of the children who live 
with them, children, young people and foster carers seen by inspectors 
were not clear about the decisions that they could make. 

69. The majority (95%) of reviews of looked after children take place on time 
and children are invited to contribute to these meetings. Children and 
young people are encouraged to attend, and Independent Reviewing 
Officers (IROs) routinely see children before their review. There is an 
under use of the provision made for children and young people to have 
access to an independent advocate, with only a small number of examples 
where this has taken place, so opportunities are missed for them to 
benefit from this service. Children and young people seen by inspectors 
said that they did not feel that they were fully involved in the decisions 
made for them. Reviews do not routinely consider whether children can 
benefit from the use of an independent visitor. The local authority is 
aware that access to independent advocacy and independent visitors is 
under-utilised and is taking action to rectify this, but it is too early to see 
the impact of this. The role of the IRO in challenging drift and delay in the 
cases seen by inspectors is not yet fully developed, particularly in ensuring 
that cases are returned to court when care plans have been changed, or 
in escalating concerns about the quality of services and support provided 
to children and young people.  

70. All children who become looked after are screened for their health needs. 
However, performance on the percentage of looked after children who 
had their teeth checked by a dentist during the year ending 31 March 
2014 is low at 71.4%.  This proportion has declined from 91% in the 

Page 38



 

 

 19 

previous year. The looked after children nurses offer age-appropriate 
medical screening, with specialist nurses for younger children and those 
aged over 12. First Step, which provides psychological health screening for 
looked after children and young people in Haringey, offers an effective 
range of therapeutic support for children and young people who have 
emotional and mental health issues. The service also offers consultation 
and training to social workers. Where children are placed away from the 
local area, access to appropriate health services is monitored well and, 
where necessary, specialist services are commissioned locally.   

71. The virtual head teacher and the virtual school team offer highly effective 
fter children 

achieve well. Comprehensive tracking and the good use of data ensures 
that the virtual school maintains good oversight of the progress of looked 
after children. Workers are tenacious in their approach and tailor support 
very effectively to meet the individual needs of children and young people. 
As a result, children and young people get the type of support and help 
that they need, when they need it. Looked after children achieve well at 
all key stages and they make good progress relative to their starting 
points. The attainment gap between looked after children and the non-
looked after children population at Key Stage 4, including English and 
maths has been closing well for the last three years, reducing the gap 
from 44% to 30%. A good proportion (87%) of looked after young people 
stay in education after the age of 16.  

72. Nearly all looked after children and young people are in receipt of full time 
education. Attendance at school is good, with nearly 80% of looked after 
children achieving over 95% attendance. Most young people attend 
mainstream schools, with just 10% in alternative provision and very few 
refusing to engage in education. Almost all of these children and young 
people engage in the educational opportunities provided. The proportion 
of fixed term exclusions is lower than in similar areas, and a very small 
proportion of children and young people become permanently excluded 
from their school. The virtual school has excellent knowledge of the 
whereabouts of all looked after children, their educational status and 
circumstances. Of the 330 looked after children of school age, 80% attend 
a good or outstanding school. Of those educated out of the area 69% 
attend schools in London. Wherever they are living, children and young 
people benefit from targeted support based on good knowledge of their 
individual needs. 

73. The pupil premium is used well to support a wide range of activities that 
encourage the progress of looked after children, for example 1-1 tuition, 
mentoring, after school activities and educational trips and visits. The 
virtual school provides good challenge to schools to ensure that the pupil 
premium is used effectively. Around three quarters of young people have 
an up-to-date personal education plan (PEP), representing an improving 
trend. The local authority recognises the need for all looked after children 

Page 39



 

 

 20 

to have a high quality PEP and the virtual school has developed a useful 
guide to support social workers to complete plans effectively.  

74. There is a good focus on promoting activities that enrich and enhance 
learning in the classroom. These include a weekly study club to support 
young people to complete their homework, and activity clubs such as a 
maths club and science taster events. The achievements of looked after 
children are celebrated well through an annual awards event. Other out of 
school activities are promoted well. 

75. Aspire, a representative group of looked after children and care leavers, 
works with the local authority to improve services. They regularly meet 
with the corporate parenting board and senior officers and members. 
Young people from the group have been involved in training for new 
foster carers and undertaking interviews for staff, for example for new 
IROs. The feedback from these young people has also led to some 
improvements in services, such as in the provision of leisure passes to 
looked after children. 

76. The authority has not fully informed looked after children and care leavers 
about their rights and entitlements. The London-wide Pledge that the 
authority makes to the young people in its care is not clear and it is not 
communicated to children well. A specific Haringey Pledge is currently 
being developed to make this clearer but, at the time of the inspection, 
young people were not clear, for example, about whether they could stay 
with their foster carer once they have reached the age of 18. 

The graded judgement for adoption performance is requires improvement 

77. Adoption performance in Haringey is improving from a low base and there 
has been a steady increase in the percentage of children who leave the 
care of the authority through adoption. In the year 2013 2014 this was 
14%. A further 10% of children left care as a result of Special 
Guardianship Orders which, although fewer than in the previous year, 
means that the overall performance on children achieving permanence is 
improving gradually. However, some children in Haringey are waiting 
longer to move in with their adoptive families than in other areas. The 
average time it takes between a child entering care and being placed with 
their adoptive family is 778 days, which is significantly higher than the 
national average of 647 days. In the twelve month period prior to the 
inspection, 13 of the 21 cases in proceedings had been completed within 
the target of 26 weeks. This means that 62% of cases in proceedings 
have been completed within the recommended timescales. 

78. The number of Black and minority ethnic (BME) children being adopted 
has risen year on year, and the gap between Haringey and the rest of the 
country is closing. Special Guardianship Orders have been used for 8% of 

Page 40



 

 

 21 

BME children in Haringey, and in the majority of cases this has involved 
good use of extended family members or connected persons. 

79. At the time of the inspection there were 16 approved adopters; 51 
children waiting to be adopted, of whom 21 were placed with their 
adoptive families, seven have been matched and four children have had 
their plans changed to long term fostering. Family finding is taking place 
for the remaining children. The average time taken to match a child with 
an adoptive family after a court order has been granted is 39 weeks, 
which is longer than the national target of 26 weeks. The team is using 
local consortia arrangements, adoption parties and national networks to 
recruit adopters, and have had some positive results in finding adopters 
for older children and for placing brothers and sisters together. This 
means that some children who have been waiting to be adopted for a long 
time have now been found adoptive families. 

80. There is currently little use of parallel or concurrent planning. This means 
that some children experience more moves than is necessary and wait 
longer to achieve permanence. Staff spoken to by inspectors understand 
the benefits of these approaches to maximise the opportunities for 
children to achieve permanence, but they are not yet being promoted 
effectively or developed in practice. 

81. Insufficient priority is given to life story work, so some children have gaps 
in their knowledge about their past, which is important to enabling them 
to form a strong identity to support their development and particularly 
their emotional well-being. 

82. The adoption panel is strong and membership is stable, with the chair 
offering appropriate oversight and challenge. There is a good working 
relationship between the chair and the agency decision maker, who 
thoroughly and promptly considers decisions made by the panel. 

83. Adopters are well prepared and supported throughout the process of 
adoption, and this includes post-adoption packages of support. They 
receive a swift response when they make initial enquiries and are moved 
on to preparation and training sessions in a timely way. Adopters told 
inspectors that the sessions are delivered by social workers who are 
approachable and knowledgeable and who give a true and honest picture 
of the realities of adoption. In the 12-month period before this inspection 
there were 20 requests for post-adoption support and 20 packages of 
support have being provided. 

The graded judgement for the experiences and progress of care leavers is 
requires improvement 

84. All young people leaving care are allocated a personal adviser from the 
Young Adults service, who supports them to secure housing, provides 

Page 41



 

 

 22 

advice on training and employment and helps them to move towards 
independence. Young people with a disability are also allocated a social 
worker from the Adults Social Care team, which helps to ensure their 
specific special needs are met. Young people have the opportunity to build 
stable and warm relationships with their adviser and this is a strong 
feature of the service; young people know their worker well and many feel 
their personal advisor provides a good level of support. 

85. The 18  programme delivered through the Tottenham Hotspur Foundation 
provides good mentoring support and access to a wide range of learning 
and development opportunities for care leavers. Young people receive 
good pastoral support and practical help in working towards their career 
and life goals. However, the programme has been scaled down since 
January 2014, and now offers just 10 places annually instead of 40 places 
to care leavers in Haringey. As of March 2014, the proportion of care 
leavers in education, training and employment had declined from 63% 
(March 2013) to 47% (March 2014), which is considerably lower than 
similar areas at 87% (March 2013).   

86. Access to higher education is very well promoted. Currently 65 care 
leavers are at university and 106 are in further education. The virtual 
school is working well to raise aspirations for future care leavers through 
visits and taster sessions to university. Care leavers are given good 
financial and practical support throughout their university careers, 
including during holiday periods.   

87. The quality of pathway planning is too variable. Not all young people have 
a written pathway plan to which they have contributed. The majority of 

future needs in a meaningful way. Some young people told inspectors that 
pathway planning felt like a task that had to be completed rather than 
achieving a plan that had meaning for them, that they own. 

88. The proportion of young people in suitable accommodation has reduced 
from 79% in March 2013 to 74% in March 2014. Nevertheless, there is a 
good range of accommodation and housing options for young people and 
good partnership work with housing providers to ensure that care leavers 
are given priority. As a result, the number of homes allocated specifically 
for care leavers has increased and there are now a number of two-
bedroomed homes available for young parents. Some young people 
spoken to were unhappy with their accommodation and not all were able 
to choose who they shared accommodation with. Some young people are 
benefiting from the staying put policy and continue to live with their foster 
carers after the age of 18, but this is not yet publicised to all young 
people. 

89. The quality of support to help young people leave care and live 
independently varies. Many receive a service which meets their individual 

Page 42



 

 

 23 

needs, but help to manage personal finances is particularly identified as a 
deficit by care leavers. Young people who spoke to inspectors had no 
shared view of their entitlements to funding, and said that access to 
funding is slow and inflexible. This means that a small number of young 
people find it difficult to access their set up home grant and many are 
restricted to where they spend it. Some young people spoken to did not 
know about their rights and entitlements to such things as advocacy or 
how to complain about the services they receive. 

90. Support for care leavers to manage their health and promote healthy 
living is not consistently available. Young people are reminded to register 
with a general practitioner and dentist, but most are not provided with a 
copy of their health records and do not know how to access them. 

 

Page 43



 

 

 24 

Leadership, management and governance require improvement 

91. The new senior leadership team is improving the quality of services and its 
priorities are clear. The leadership team is ambitious and is effectively 
striving to provide good quality services through incremental and targeted 
plans for improvement, including building capacity within the service. 
Although performance is improving in some important deficit areas, such 
as in child protection and adoption responses, performance has not been 
sufficiently consolidated in other key areas. This has resulted, for 
example, in a decline in the rate of care leavers living in suitable 
accommodation and in the number engaged in employment, education 
and training. The local authority and its partners know the population of 
Haringey well; they demonstrate a good understanding of service 
strengths and weakness and how these impact on service delivery. 

recent self-evaluation identifies strengths, areas for 
improvement and priorities for development which are consistent with the 
findings of this inspection. 

92. A new senior leadership team has recently been appointed, including a 

DCS is identifying the key changes required and setting ambitious targets 
for service improvement. Performance is benchmarked against similar 
authorities who have good or better performance, so that service 
strengths and weaknesses are identified and analysed. As a result, 
Haringey has made progress in safely reducing the number of children 
who are subject to a child protection plan and those who are looked after. 
The local authority has also improved the timeliness and quality of social 
work assessments, which has been a stubbornly difficult aspect of service 
delivery to improve.  

93. Effective and purposeful relationships are in place between the Chief 
Executive, the Lead Member, the DCS and the LSCB chair. Elected 
members discharge their statutory duties effectively; governance and 
reporting arrangements have been strengthened through the 
accountability protocol for the DCS. The Leader of the Council has recently 
been appointed as chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB). The 
priorities of the HWB are not sufficiently linked to children s social care 
priorities. In particular, early help is not identified as a priority, and more 
work is required to ensure that the HWB is sufficiently focused on the 
effectiveness and commissioning of services for children and young 
people.  

94. The local authority has ensured that 
services continues to be a priority. The Haringey 54,000 transformational 
programme, designed to improve outcomes for the 54,000 children and 
young people in the borough, 
children and families. Looked after children have been consulted as part of 

Page 44



 

 

 25 

the arrangements to redesign services for early help and provide help for 
families at an early stage.  

95. Commissioning arrangements are informed by a needs assessment, with 
effective engagement of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs), statutory 
and voluntary sectors. This has resulted in some good outcomes for 
children and young people. For example, the joint commissioning of multi-
systemic therapy for children on the edge of care has contributed to the 
safe reduction in the number of children entering the care system. 
However, commissioning arrangements to support a comprehensive multi-
agency early help offer to meet the diverse needs of the population of 
Haringey is as yet under-developed. Although plans to address this are 
being progressed, the early help strategy has not been signed off by 
partner agencies and the pace of change is slow. 

96. The local authority has recently agreed a placement sufficiency strategy 
and has commissioned an external social work agency to recruit and 
assess prospective foster carers. However, it is too early to demonstrate 
impact and too many children continue to live away from their local 
communities.  

97. The majority of recommendations from previous inspections have been 
addressed through appropriate monitoring and action planning. Three 
serious incident notifications have been received by Ofsted between 31 
March 2013 and 1 April 2014; two have resulted in Serious Case Reviews 
being commissioned by the LSCB.  

98. Performance management arrangements are in place at all levels of the 
service. The use of performance management information is increasingly 
effective but not all data and information are reliable or used to support 
improvements in service delivery. For example, data and information 
about the patterns of offending of children looked after are not 
systematically collated or analysed. As a result, there is little consideration 
of the impact of this behaviour on the future life chances of this group of 
children and young people. Performance management arrangements for 
early help are under-developed. This means it is difficult for the local 
authority and partner agencies to judge how successful they are at 
delivering early help and ensuring that children and families receive help 
at the earliest possible stage. Also performance on immunisations and 
dental checks appears weak for looked after children, at 68% for 
immunisations and 71% for dental checks, although managers believe this 
to be a recording issue. 

99. A comprehensive rolling programme of casework and thematic audits is in 
shared understanding of 

the strengths and weaknesses of practice and contributes to improved 
service delivery. However, these arrangements do not extend to early help 

Page 45



 

 

 26 

services, so there is no clear systematic and comprehensive approach to 
inform service development of these services and programmes.  

100. There are effective relationships with the Child and Family Court Advisory 
and Support Service (Cafcass), the family courts and the local Family 
Justice Board. This has resulted in improved timescales in private and 
public law proceedings, reducing delay for children and young people.  

101. Corporate parenting panel members demonstrate a strong commitment to 
children looked after in Haringey. The Corporate Parenting Board has 
helped to increase housing provision through securing a number of two-
bedroomed properties specifically for care leavers who have children. 
Aspire (Haringey Children in Care Council) is consulted on developing 
service provision. Both the Lead Cabinet Member and the DCS attend an 
advisory panel meeting with Aspire to enable them to have a clearer 
understanding of issues and to drive improvement. Young people told 
inspectors how they have influenced the introduction of leisure passes for 
children looked after, and are involved in training foster carers and the 
interviewing of staff.   

102. Senior managers provide visible and consistent leadership f
services. They meet young people and are aware of significant case 
issues. Monthly safeguarding assurance days are undertaken by the 
Cabinet Member and the DCS; they meet staff, observe front-line practice 
and have a good understanding of the issues faced by staff. Regular 
performance meetings chaired by the DCS and attended by managers and 
social workers ensure performance is challenged and areas of strengths 
and weaknesses known and understood. 

103. Effective management oversight of social work practice is demonstrating a 
recent improvement in quality and, as a result, plans for children are 
improved. Although the majority of staff say they feel well supported and 
morale in the social work teams visited by inspectors is high, the quality of 
social work supervision is too variable, with some examples of poor quality 
supervision records which are not sufficiently focused on next steps and 
the action social workers are required to take. More recent casework 
demonstrates better supervision, with some examples of reflective 
practice, but more needs to be done to improve the quality of reflective 
supervision and the degree of challenge.  

104. Social workers have manageable caseloads; they are motivated and 
positive about working in Haringey. The diversity of the workforce reflects 
the community. The local authority recruitment strategy is realistic, and is 
based on a detailed analysis of the workforce market. An effective social 
work trainee scheme has secured eight post-graduate appointments in the 
last 12 months. Newly qualified social workers (NQSWs) spoken to by 
inspectors report that their caseloads are protected and they are 
particularly positive about the support, supervision and training they 

Page 46



 

 

 27 

receive. Managers recognise the importance of NQSWs undertaking a 
variety of case work to enhance their skills, and to strengthen their 
professional confidence. The use of agency staff is currently 12.1% which 
is comparable to the national figure. The turnover of social workers has 
reduced to 19.9%, but is still higher than the national average. Inspectors 
saw a small number of cases where children had experienced frequent 
changes in social workers. For those children, this has affected 
relationship building and the effectiveness of delivery of plans.  

105. Training needs are identified through workforce surveys, audit findings, 
feedback from children and young people, learning from complaints and 
serious case reviews. Learning from a recent court judgement has led to 
far-reaching changes, for example, with revised information sharing 
protocols for the MASH and changes made to the Pan-London procedures. 

. 
Complaints are dealt with effectively, with all complaints being resolved at 
an early stage. However, not all young people, particularly care leavers, 
understand how to make a complaint or are aware of their rights and 
entitlements, so opportunities are being missed to harness their views to 
inform service improvements. 

Page 47



 

 

 28 

What the inspection judgements mean: the local 
authority 

An outstanding local authority leads highly effective services that contribute to 
significantly improved outcomes for children and young people who need help and 
protection and care. Their progress exceeds expectations and is sustained over time. 

A good local authority leads effective services that help, protect and care for 
children and young people and those who are looked after and care leavers have 
their welfare safeguarded and promoted.  

In a local authority that requires improvement, there are no widespread or 
serious failures that create or leave children being harmed or at risk of harm. The 
welfare of looked after children is safeguarded and promoted. Minimum 
requirements are in place, however, the authority is not yet delivering good 
protection, help and care for children, young people and families. 

A local authority that is inadequate is providing services where there are 
widespread or serious failures that create or leave children being harmed or at risk of 
harm or result in children looked after or care leavers not having their welfare 
safeguarded and promoted. 

Page 48



 

 

 29 

Section 2: The effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board 

The effectiveness of the LSCB requires improvement 

Areas for improvement 

106. Ensure that schools are more fully involved at Board level so that their 
representations are known, understood and considered and their 
contribution fully harnessed to influence the shape of services. 

107. -agency guidance and consider whether the 
involvement or association with gangs by young women should be 
included as a risk factor to strengthen arrangements to provide a co-
ordinated response to this vulnerable group of young people. 

108. Accelerate plans to formally agree the draft CSE strategy and ensure it is 
clearly linked to the gang action plan. Make clear how the strategy will link 
to front-line practice, and what success criteria will be used to measure 
and evaluate progress. 

109. Ensure that the Board receives an annual report on children missing from 
home, missing from care and missing from education to assure itself that 
appropriate processes and practice are in place to safeguard this 
vulnerable group of children and young people. Strengthen the existing 

annual report arrangements to include an evaluation of service 
responses for missing children, to support multi-agency actions and 
reduce risks posed to children. 

Key strengths and weaknesses of the LSCB 

110. The LSCB  and has effective 
governance arrangements, enabling partners to assess whether they are 
fulfilling their statutory responsibilities to protect children.  

111. The Board identified as a response to its Peer Review in January 2014 that 
understanding the effectiveness of early help is a priority, and now has a 
work programme to take this forward. However, the Board has yet to 
demonstrate influence in ensuring that the early help offer is targeted 
appropriately and is making a measurable difference.  

112. The Board is able to prioritise its work and has a business plan that 
reflects local needs, with a strong focus on ensuring that the voice of the 
child is heard more clearly and that children have better outcomes. 
However, 
priority. Although the Board receives some data on children missing, it has 
not received or sought a qualitative analysis or report in relation to 
children missing from home and care, although it has sought information 

Page 49



 

 

 30 

on those children and young people missing education. The Board has not 
established an overview of performance or the effectiveness of practice in 
relation to children missing. The Board has also not established an 
overview of private fostering practice, although it is aware that further 
resources have been put in place by child the 
low number of arrangements being identified.  

113. Multi-agency CSE guidance has been reviewed in May 2014. The CSE 
guidance makes appropriate links to the vulnerabilities of children looked 
after and those children who go missing, and identifies the often 
unrecognised sexual exploitation risks to boys and young men. The 
guidance is wide-ranging, but it does not identify clearly exploitation 
issues in relation to association with gangs and gang culture. There is no 
mention of gang association as a risk factor for young women in the risk 
categories identified. This gap means that front-line practitioners, despite 
accessing available training, may not recognise risks in relation to gang 
association early enough to ensure that young women receive appropriate 
support.  

114. A CSE strategy remains under-development. Both the CSE task group and 
now the vulnerable children sub-group of the Board are working to ensure 
that strategy, processes and practice link closely together. However, the 
evaluation of the impact of initiatives has not as yet been sufficiently co-
ordinated, measured and understood by the Board. 

115. The Board is appropriately constituted and has one lay member; it is 
mostly 

good, although regular representation from schools has not been 
achieved. The Board is financially sound. 

116. The chair of the Board has only recently been appointed but, as the 
author of a report in 2013 reviewing the effectiveness of the Board, he 
has good knowledge of its performance. The chair is a member of the 

rust and a recent member of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

117. The Board maintains a challenge and impact log . This includes examples 
of intervention, including seeking assurances from the Haringey Chief 
Executive on staffing structure and workforce stability of senior staff in 

neglect, and ensuring that the third sector are better informed about who 
to contact  

118. The Board ensures that partners hold each other to account, and each 
agency completes a Section 11 audit of safeguarding every two years. 
This is further strengthened by an independent inspection of audit returns 
by agencies, conducted by other Board members to ensure that agency 
self-reports are accurate. The Board ensures that cross-cutting themes are 
identified and action taken to influence change.  

Page 50



 

 

 31 

119. The Board conducts a range of multi-agency audits through an annual 
programme; for example, in 2013 audits were undertaken on Section 47 
decisions, safeguarding of children with a disability, and compliance with 
policies and procedures. Also, a case review took place following 
recommendations arising from a management review involving adult 
mental health issues and the care of children. These audits have produced 
learning areas, recommendations and action plans as a result, with 
practice issues for a range of agencies including adult services, which are 
helping to influence the shape of provision. 

120. The Board has developed a learning and improvement framework and a 
schedule setting out the means by which the Board, agencies and services 
across Haringey will seek to learn from experience. This includes learning 
through audits of work, Serious Case Reviews and multi-agency case 
reviews where the criteria for a Serious Case Review are not met. 

121. The Board has been active in ensuring that cases are appropriately 
identified as requiring either a Serious Case Review or a multi-agency case 
review. This includes three Serious Case Reviews, one published in 
October 2013 and two that are completed but will not be published until 
the respective court proceedings are completed. The Board ensures 
through its training program that lessons learned from these local cases, 
and also from national cases of concern, are effectively disseminated to 
staff across agencies. 

122. The Board has been active in ensuring that policies are in place including, 
for example, threshold guidance, multi-agency thresholds for children with 
disability and an escalation policy. The Board has also contributed to 
awareness raising of the risks of neglect, including work with housing staff 
on the signs of neglect. 

123. The Board 14 has identified a number of key 
priorities, including engaging young people and families, monitoring the 
effectiveness of MASH and early help intervention and identification and 
response to young people at risk of CSE or who go missing. The Board 
monitors the progress of the priorities identified and is able to 
demonstrate progress in most, but not all, of its priorities. Progress 

safeguarding and asking the gangs action group (GAG) to present a 
strategy to the board. The Board has delayed its review of missing from 
home and care guidance because the pan-London child protection 
procedures are being updated.  

124. Training is offered to staff in agencies across Haringey according to their 
role and the level of contact they have with children and families. Training 
includes a safeguarding introduction across all levels and a focus on CSE. 
Other training includes young people and domestic violence, and serious 
case review workshops. Bite size courses increase the range of training 

Page 51



 

 

 32 

and learning opportunities. Training is evaluated three months after 
attendance to assess its effectiveness on practice. 

125. An annual report is produced which provides an overview of the  
work, including the activity of the six sub-groups. The report includes 
some analysis of key issues, including its response to child sexual 
exploitation and findings of audits conducted, but the Board has 
recognised in its self-assessment that an improvement in performance 
data is required to ensure that the next annual report is better informed. 
The report contains information from key agencies, reports on completed 
serious case reviews and case management reviews and includes an 
annual report on the LADO function and the work of Independent 
Reviewing Officers. The report does not contain information or any 
analysis on services for children missing from home and missing from care 
or those in private fostering arrangements. 

126. The LSCB web-site is well constructed and provides up to date information 
on Board activities, policy and practice guidelines, threshold documents 
and Serious Case Review and case management review reports. 

Page 52



 

 

 33 

What the inspection judgements mean: the LSCB 

An outstanding LSCB is highly influential in improving the care and protection of 
children. Their evaluation of performance is exceptional and helps the local authority 
and its partners to understand the difference that services make and where they 
need to improve. The LSCB creates and fosters an effective learning culture. 

An LSCB that is good co-ordinates the activity of statutory partners and monitors the 
effectiveness of local arrangements. Multi-agency training in the protection and care 
of children is effective and evaluated regularly for impact. The LSCB provides robust 
and rigorous evaluation and analysis of local performance that identifies areas for 
improvement and influences the planning and delivery of high-quality services. 

An LSCB requires improvement if it does not yet demonstrate the characteristics 
of good.  

An LSCB that is inadequate does not demonstrate that it has effective 
arrangements in place and the required skills to discharge its statutory functions. It 
does not understand the experiences of children and young people locally and fails to 
identify where improvements can be made. 

Page 53



 

 

 34 

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out in 

website: www.ofsted.gov.uk. If you would like Ofsted to send you a copy of the guidance, please 
telephone 0300123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

The Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects to 
achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for learners of 

all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children's social care, and inspects the Children and 

Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher training, work 
based learning and skills training, adult and community learning, and education and training in prisons 

and other secure establishments. It inspects services for looked after children and child protection. 
 

If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 
telephone 0300 123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

 

You may copy all or parts of this document for non-commercial educational purposes, as long as you 
give details of the source and date of publication and do not alter the information in any way. 

 
To receive regular email alerts about new publications  

 

Piccadilly Gate 
Store St 

Manchester 
M1 2WD 

T: 0300 123 4234 
Textphone: 0161 618 8524 

E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

W: www.ofsted.gov.uk 
© Crown copyright 2014 
 

Page 54



Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel:  29 September 2014

Senior 

Leadership 

Team

Corporate 

Programme 

Board

Strategic 

Commissioning 

Board

CYPS

Corporate

Haringey 

Children’s 

Trust

Sector Led 

Improvement 

Multi-

agency

Scrutiny

CYPS 

Scrutiny

Corporate 

Parenting 

H54k 

Programme 

Board

Cabinet

www.haringey.gov.uk

Divisional 

Management 

Team

Ofsted Getting 

to Good 

Board Early Help
Project Board

Additional Needs
Commissioning Group; 

(Special Education Needs) 

SEND integration

Early Years 
Partnership Board;  

Commissioning 

Group

LAC
Fostering and 

Sufficiency Board

Youth
Commissioning 

Group

CYPS
Improvement 

Board

Local 

Safeguarding 

Children 

Board

Health & 

Wellbeing 

Board

Parenting 

Advisory  

Committee

Schools 

Forum

CYP Strategic 

Commissioning 

Group

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 1

0
P

a
g
e
 5

5



P
a

g
e
 5

6

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	7 Terms of Reference
	8 Work Plan
	9 OFSTED Report on Services for Children in Need of Help and Protection, Children Looked After and Care Leavers and Review of the Effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children Board
	10 Council and multi agency bodies relevant to cildren and young people

